CABINET

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 7 November 2024 at 9.00 am in Council Chamber, Third Floor, Southwater One, Telford TF3 4JG

PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY 13 NOVEMBER 2024

(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY 18 NOVEMBER 2024)

<u>Present:</u> Councillors R A Overton (Vice-Chair), L D Carter (Chair), Z Hannington, C Healy, A D McClements, K Middleton, S A W Reynolds and P Watling.

Also Present: Cllr T J Nelson (Conservative Group Leader)

Apologies: Councillor R Mehta and O Vickers

CAB-17 Declarations of Interest

None.

CAB-18 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 September 2024 be confirmed and signed by the Chair.

CAB-19 Leader's Announcements

The Leader informed Cabinet that a lot had been happening since the last meeting and highlighted two key initiatives.

The Council continued its efforts to support the most vulnerable people in the community and had provided £100 to 6000 eligible pensioners as well as overseeing a record take up of pension credit across the borough. It was essential that the Council was on the side of residents and that they were aware of this.

The Leader announced the extension of the £2 bus fares for the services the Council runs across the borough. Some 350,000 passengers had used the services which had been designed in 2022, making it easier for residents to travel to places of work and education. There had been real frustration that there was no additional funding or powers to take greater control of the local bus services. The Council would be taking full advantage of the Bus Bill and had fed into the consultation and would exploit every avenue that became available once the Bill is law.

The borough had received 2 high profile visitors during the recent period and it was a great honour to welcome Her Royal Highness, The Princess Royal to

the skills hub in Station Quarter, the new centre for further and higher education in the Town Centre, and with opportunities for 120 new start up business units. Thanks was given to colleagues in the chamber and the wider Council chamber for wise investments over the years which allowed the investment to bring education to the heart of Telford.

The Leader had welcomed the Minister of State for Veterans' Affairs to Telford. The provision for veterans in Telford is amongst the best in the country but there was always more that could be achieved. Events during the coming week would remember and reflect on the sacrifice made by those serving in the armed forces and the Leader encouraged people to take a moment to reflect on the values of service and selflessness and encouraged residents to attend the remembrance events in their locality.

CAB-20 Telford & Wrekin Council Plan

The Leader of the Council presented the report of the Director: Policy & Governance.

The report presented the updated Council Plan which sought to drive delivery of the Council's vision to "protect, care and invest to create a better borough" during the period 2024/25 to 2026/27.

In order to deliver the Council's vision, the Council Plan identified four priorities:

- Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community
- Everyone benefits from a thriving economy
- All neighbourhoods are a great place to live
- Our natural environment is protected, and the Council has a leading role in addressing the climate emergency

Significant progress had been made on delivering against these priorities which included being the first Council in the West Midlands to be judged outstanding in successive inspections by Ofsted for Children's Social Care A reduction in the number of referrals for safeguarding and Services. statutory services by 30%. There had been an increase in the number of offenders referred for treatment from criminal justice of 44.2% in the 12 months ending May 2024 compared to 2023/24 and continued to deliver one of the best alcohol treatment rates in the country. Some 340 units of extra care housing had been delivered in 2024/25 to support specialised living accommodation. The Council had provided over 37,500 people with over £7m in support including £100 given to 6,000 pensioners, together with financial support through a variety of welfare support schemes including household support fund, discretionary housing payments, emergency welfare assistance and council tax hardship fund during 23/24 and 24/25. A sum of £1.17m had been invested in environmental improvements and enhancements into local parks, nature reserves and green guarantee sites with some 11,664 trees being planted and the creation of 32 new wildflower areas.

Investment had taken place to expand schools and education centres making these more accessible to everyone. Regeneration had taken place on the high street, new factories had been built, together with start-up units and the regionally significant Agri-tech Park enabling the private sector to create job opportunities for residents.

The key priority remained that that the communities were the best place to live and work with a thriving economy, improved high streets, factories and business units come, stay and extend bringing job opportunities, expanding the school and education offer to the centre of town, protecting the local natural environment in Telford.

The final commitment was that the Council be efficient, effective and innovative in order to maintain the lowest council tax in the Midlands, make wise investments with the surplus supporting front line services in order to protect, care and invest in the Borough.

Cabinet Members expressed that the plan was linked to the vision document which had been created following significant resident input. The four priorities provided services to match the Council's high expectations and to be on the side of residents. Protecting, caring and investing was at its heart, enabling everyone to live well and ensuring neighbourhoods were a great place to live. The Council is a community focussed Council providing efficient, effective services which benefit the thriving community. Its aim was to protect the natural environment, mitigate against climate change, whilst having a plan that meant long term financial stability. The medium-term financial strategy delivered against the vision and the resources required to achieve it. The Council had a good track record of delivery in communities which had a positive effect on peoples' lives. The Council wanted to continue to make the borough the best it could be.

The Leader of the Conservative Group commented that the Vision 2032 plan had recently been before Cabinet where he enquired about partners who were not listed in the plan, and in particular secondary education, as this was a central government request. In relation to population, he asked for clarification on the correct figure as two numbers had been cited. He set out that one of his personal values was social responsibility and he agreed that the Council had a duty to the most vulnerable in society both morally and at law. He agreed with residents being asked to accept and act upon their own responsibilities so that people can do what they can to help themselves. He asked that the Council protect the natural environment from overdevelopment and protect land that has never been developed and suggested urban densification would be a sensible way forward on already developed land.

The Leader commented that key partners would be attending the vision event later in year which included health, Police, the voluntary sector and representatives from further education. He welcomed the recent and future ministerial visits and the support from the local MP who would champion the Council's causes. He confirmed that the correct population figure was 191,000. In relation to the Local Plan, that would be a debate for the future,

and it would have to consider the need for more housing and protecting the natural environment.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – that the updated Council Plan 2024/25 to 2026/27 including the vision and key priorities be approved.

CAB-21 2024/25 Financial Monitoring Report

The Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services presented the report of the Interim Director: Finance, People and IDT.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2024/25 to 2027/28 was approved at Full Council on 29 February 2024 and included the 2024/25 revenue budget and medium term capital programme. Since this approval, the economic climate had continued to be challenging with cost pressures being experienced, particularly in relation to the provision of Adult Social Care.

The report set out the latest financial monitoring position for the year relating to the revenue budget, capital programme and income collection. It provided the latest projections in relation to the projected outturn position, progress against the approved 2024/25 capital programme and gave a summary of collection information in relation to Council Tax Business Rates and Sales Ledger income.

Nationally, Councils continued to face extreme challenges with unprecedented pressures driven by high costs and high demand for services, particularly in relation to Adult Social Care, Children's Safeguarding and School Travel Assistance. The autumn budget had set out its medium term financial plan for local councils which included a one year spending review covering 2025/26 and a further spending review in late spring 2025 to cover the period 2026/27 and 2027/28. The headline figures indicated a real terms increase in core local government spending of 3.2% in 2025/26 including at least £1.3 billion of new grant funding of which £600 million would be new grant funding to support social care. Further details would be announced in the local government financial settlement in December 2024. The government were committed to reforming the approach to local government funding considering up to date need and local revenue with a targeted approach to the 2025/26 financial settlement. This would be followed by a multi-year settlement.

Inflation fell to 1.7% which was below the Bank of England's 2% target which was an indication that price increases were steadying. The Bank of England's base rate reduced from 5.25% to 5.00% in August with further cuts predicted for later in the year, although it was still higher than anticipated when the Council's budget was set. Whilst the funding outlook for the medium term remained uncertain, the administration would continue to address the priorities that residents expressed were important to them - a thriving economy, creating well paid jobs, ensuring the borough was a great place to live and learn, preserving the environment and addressing the climate change crisis. It was a key priority that the Council remained efficient but kept the lowest

council tax in the Midlands, whilst making wise investments to support front line services and be the best it could for its local residents.

The projected year end was summarised in the report which set out the Council had a one-off contingency of £1.595m set aside for the pressures of adult social care. Prior to application of remaining contingencies included in the revenue budget, the projected outturn position was currently expected to be over budget by £4.498m at year end, which was an increase of £0.944m since the last report. By using the specific earmarked social care contingency and an element of the general budget contingency this would bring the overall position within budget at year end. The key pressures continued to be adult social care, children's safeguarding, family support and education and skills.

The report reflected a positive treasury management benefit of £1.5m within Finance and IDT which ensured the Council had not required to use the budget strategy reserve set aside to support the medium term financial strategy which remained at £21.7m. In relation to the Dedicated Schools Grant there was a national funding gap due to the pressure on high needs provision. The Council was projecting a £6m deficit at year end but there was not an expectation for councils to fund this as a statutory override would be put in place until 2025/26.

In relation to corporate income collection, business rates were on target. Council tax was slightly behind target but the this was on course to be met by year end.

While it has been extremely challenging the aim was to continue to deliver quality services to the residents of the borough and protect critical front-line services.

Cabinet Members welcomed the report which showed due diligence and that the Council was in a good position to deliver a balanced budget despite the increased demand on adult social care and children's safeguarding. A balanced budget had been achieved by hard work and thinking outside the box with projects such as the growth fund, solar farm and NuPlace, green energy, new jobs and businesses which helped to support services on the front line.

The Leader of the Conservative Group enquired about the impact on the Council of the government's increase on the rate and threshold of national insurance for employers. He raised that the challenges of the last 14 years included the pandemic and the war in Ukraine. In relation to capital slippage and development within the borough, there was a need for affordable dwellings and he noted the deferment of up to £20 million of the capital housing budget by four years which suggested young people were unlikely to get a NuPlace home any time soon.

The Leader expressed that the new multi-year funding awards were fantastic and he welcomed the new governments sensible approach. The was an absolute commitment to NuPlace and there were plans to expand, together

with Telford and Wrekin homes and the budget coming forward in March 2025 would provide for that. In relation to the 14 years of previous government being ancient history, the Leader expressed that thousands of residents could not just write off its effects and the £150m taken away from Council services. The government had planned and proposed new national insurance rules for employers, but this had zero impact on local authorities as the increase would be funded entirely by the government.

RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL that:

- a) the 2024/25 revenue budget position be noted; and that Full Council approve the use of £0.216m Special Fund balances for additional lighting works to be undertaken in the Special fund areas:
- b) the position in relation to capital spend be noted; and recommends that Full Council approve the changes to the capital programme detailed in Appendix C and all associated changes to the Medium Term Financial Strategy, including Treasury and Prudential Indicators:
- c) Notes the collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger;
- d) Notes the current position in relation to Treasury & Prudential Indicators; and
- e) Authority to approve bids from the Invest to Save/Capacity Fund is delegated to the Chief Executive after consultation with the Leader or the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Finance.

CAB-22 All Age Carers Strategy 2024 - 2029

The Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care & Health Systems presented the joint report of the Director: Adult Social Care and Director: Children's Safeguarding & Family Support.

The report introduced the final All Age Carers Strategy for Telford and Wrekin 2024-2029 which had previously been before Cabinet in draft form. Following consultation, a series of amendments had been made which formed the final strategy.

The Council had a statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 to provide services to address carers needs for care and support. The Council also had a duty to provide information and advice, to promote wellbeing and, where possible, to prevent carers from needing support.

The main purpose of the 2024-2029 All Age Carers Strategy was to provide a clear framework to the provision of services to support carers of all ages:

Identify as a carer

- Maintain their own health and wellbeing
- Plan for their future
- Participate in family and community life

It sought to address local issues and strengthen integration of health, social and voluntary services to improve the lives of carers and set out how this would be maintained and enhanced during the next five years.

The vision remained and continued to be that carers were recognised, thanked and valued by the wider community and statutory agencies. Carers were essential in supporting the wider health and care system and preventing and reducing delays accessing services.

The Strategy set out that:

- 45% (8,214 people) said that they provide unpaid care for 19 hours or less per week
- 22% (3,913 people) provide unpaid care for between 20 and 49 hours per week
- 33% (5,899 people) provide unpaid care for over 50 hours per week

It was noted that one in ten carers provided unpaid care and that the time and energy of providing support at no cost to the Council should be recognised and valued. Carers were often not in receipt of financial support or received a small amount of financial support through the carers allowance. The Council provided support to carers of all ages in a number of ways which were set out in the report. There had been a focus on young carers with 50 face to face engagement sessions taking place together with an online questionnaire and a summary and easy read version of the strategy. This had highlighted the need to speak to people on a one-to-one basis in order to increase awareness of the strategy.

Next steps were to formally launch the Carers Partnership Board and, once established, set out an action plan. The key area of focus was an all-age approach which would empower carers and support their physical and mental health and wellbeing.

The All Age Carers Strategy linked to the Telford and Wrekin Health and Wellbeing Strategy and in particular focused on health inequalities. It also supported the implementation of the Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin Integrated Care Strategy.

Cabinet Members welcomed the report and the work that had taken place with carers in relation to health and wellbeing, relationships and the need for more social activity and positive events. It was important that care was not the only focus and that friendly, carer aware policies and flexible appointments for services were put in place. People did not recognise that they were carers and raising awareness of the available advice and support was paramount. Education was important for young carers and they should not be penalised. The new strategy put support in place to enable carers to continue with their

education and to ensure that there were no barriers for their future once their studies had finished. There was a robust commitment to all carers that they were thanked and valued and the Council learn from those with lived experience as there was no better voice.

The Leader of the Opposition Group was supportive of the work that was being undertaken on the strategy and the moral and statutory obligations the Council had. He welcomed the focus on young carers, particularly to minimise the impact on education. It was important to manage what was measured and KPIs were an important tool, but he raised that there were no numbers set out in the action plan relating to people accessing short breaks.

RESOLVED – that:

- a) Telford and Wrekin All Age Carers Strategy 2024-2029 for publication be approved; and
- b) Delegated authority be granted to the Director of Adult Social Care in consultation with the Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and Health Systems to implement a five-year action plan.

CAB-23 Telford & Wrekin Digital Strategy 2024

The Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services presented the report of the Interim Director: Finance HR & IDT.

The report sought approval for a new Digital Strategy for the period 2024-2027.

It set out the way that the Council would maximise the potential of digital technology in how it communicated and interacted with residents, customers and partner organisations by providing the right digital environment within the community.

The vision was to create a better borough through digital innovation providing seamless connectivity for all and encouraging take-up of information and services online.

The Strategy highlighted the initial actions planned, progress on the 2021 to 2023 Digital Strategy and how aims would be delivered through to the end of 2026/27.

Key accomplishments were set out in the report and included:

- the launch of the new Leisure website and Leisure system
- the launch of the new digital assistant "Ask-Tom" available 24/7 to respond to the most frequently asked questions.
- An increased number of services could now be accessed through a more prominent home-page location which had led to a 40% increase in customers accessing services.

- A series of improvements had been implemented to the customer experience of using the My Telford portal
- In respect of travel assistance and transport requests, a custom system had been created
- Our Virtual House was now complete and fully accessible via Live Well Telford: Virtual House tour
- The creation of an Independent Living Centre (ILC)
- The implementation of an app to aid mental health professionals and booking doctors
- The implementation of One Health and Care a digital health and social care record
- In late 2023 infrared technology to detect falls and track habits and behaviours pilot was introduced
- An online referral into Family Connect safeguarding for professional partners to streamline referral processes had been introduced
- The Care Providers portal had been introduced which linked adult social care and the financial managements systems
- Working with partners, the new Live Well Telford digital directory had been created and was a one stop shop to help people get online
- Support given to over 100 young people with a device from the Leader and Cabinet Young Persons Grant Scheme
- Face-to-face digital inclusion sessions to help people gain confidence online and using the internet, of which 77% of attendees were 65 and over
- Learn Telford provided a weekly Job Junction at Wellington Library
- A pilot project had been delivered with Teldoc Primary Care Network to support patients downloading the NHS app
- Hello Telford, a free B2B tool provided a one-stop-shop digital platform for businesses and helped reduce their carbon footprint
- Invest Telford was rebranded and a new website effectively promoted the town
- A new Council fund Innovate Telford offered 100 Telford businesses funding to help them transform over a six month period
- High quality digital infrastructure was being delivered boosting digital inclusion and job opportunities as well as high speed connectivity in both rural and urban areas
- LoraWAN Gully Sensors were being piloted in high risk road flooding areas
- Work had taken place with the Housing Investment programme and Nuplace to ensure new building was digitally connected
- Visit Telford website had been relaunched
- A new Third Generation Security Firewall had been upgraded
- A consistent delivery of excellent digital services with average service uptime of 99.88% in 2022 and 2023
- The Council's commitment to evidence based decision making had seen many improvements in the use of data and in particularly significant increase in the use of Power BI for interactive reports and dashboards and data modelled processes

The Strategy acknowledged that navigating the digital landscape could be challenging and the Council was dedicated to ensuring that some non-digital channels would be left open for those who required them. They were committed to a broad option of communication channels providing customers with choice and would deliver a consistent, easy to use reliable customer experience across all sections of the organisation. By encouraging user friendly and accessible services, customers could interact online which would help the Council to allocate more resource for those customers who needed to rely on using conventional contact methods.

Working alongside partners, the Council would use digital technology to empower and enable people to fulfil their potential, be actively involved in the community, stay safe and live healthy, independent lives for longer. It would also help to improve productivity and growth in businesses borough wide. To enhance Gigabit and 5G connectivity, the Council would closely monitor National Government Schemes to improve speed connectivity in remote rural areas. It would continue to create Telford Connected digital innovation, improving the way that services were delivered through the deployment of smart technology and by providing, enabling and encouraging its partners and customers with secure, reliable, resilient IT infrastructure whilst reducing its carbon footprint.

Cabinet Members welcomed the report and the inclusive digital strategy. It was key that the Council kept all channels of communication open in order to maintain inclusivity in the way services were delivered. Although it was quicker and cheaper for people to get online, there were still residents who needed support going forward. By using available technology, the Council would continue to streamline and generate efficiencies.

The Leader of the Conservative Group considered that work was being undertaken more effectively as technology was doing the heavy lifting. MyTelford app was a good example of working better and smarter. He raised a minor caveat in relation to interacting with Al and felt that people needed to know if they were dealing with Al or a human and he raised concerns about the potential overuse of technology and asked the Council to remain cautious.

The Leader expressed that the Council would grasp every single opportunity that was presented including high speed connectivity and digital skills hub promotion. The MyTelford app had stood the test of time and it was hoped this could be developed further.

<u>RESOLVED</u> – that the Telford & Wrekin Digital Strategy 2024 be approved.

CAB-24 Ofsted Action Plan

The Cabinet Member: Children, Young People, Education, Employment & Skills presented the joint report of the Director: Children's Safeguarding & Family Support and Executive Director: Children's & Family Services.

The report presented the findings of the Ofsted Inspection of the Local Authority Children's Services (ILACS) which took place between 29 April and 3 May 2024. An inspection would usually take place every three years. In January 2020, children's services were judged to be 'Outstanding' by ILACS and were the only local authority in the region to be judged outstanding at that time. During the recent Ofsted Inspection undertaken between 29 April and 3 May 2024, the Council's children's services retained its Outstanding judgement and continued to be the only outstanding authority in the region. It was important to note that there were only five local authorities who had been successful in maintaining their outstanding rating and this was despite the impact of the covid pandemic and the continued effects on the mental health of children and young people.

The four judgement areas now included the experiences and progress of children in care and the experiences and progress of care leavers. The inspection framework in relation to care leavers was a standalone judgement and Ofsted noted that "care leavers benefit from an extremely comprehensive and generous local offer...". Improvements had been made since the last inspection and care leavers had appropriate access across a range of services. As a corporate parent this judgment was something to be proud of.

Ofsted had highlighted two areas of improvement which were:

- The management of contacts within Family Connect
- The consistency of making children, aged 16 and 17 years old, who present as homeless, aware of their rights and entitlements

Ofsted identified some contacts were closed and then reopened to be reviewed when information was received to allow for informed decisions to be made. The service was exploring options around how contacts could be managed moving forward. In relation to the consistency of making children aged 16 and 17 years old, who present as homeless, aware of their rights and entitlements, work was underway and a senior lead within the service had been appointed and processes and age-appropriate literature were being refined.

The extensive report was a testament to the hard work and development which had taken place and recognised the many strengths of the CATE Team. The care plans had independently been reviewed as inspirational. There was innovative social work practice and the benefits were felt from early health work with children and families.

It was reflected in the report that children services within Telford and Wrekin Council had been a priority, and this was evident from the leadership, financial investment and political support of members. Children's services continued to be a priority area and appropriate financial investment, planning and support continued to be made available to help, support and deliver outcomes for the children and young people of Telford and Wrekin.

Whilst the Council had retained its outstanding judgment, it was a culmination of years of hard work and investment and the recognition that children were at the centre of all that was done and the Council would continue to listen to children and families within the borough as more could be done.

Cabinet Members welcomed the report and expressed that the Council had a duty to protect and care for children in the borough and vulnerable children in particular. Despite the outstanding judgement, the Council did not rest on its laurels and the action plan demonstrated the need to continue to develop further to deliver excellent services. The work of the virtual school was highlighted, together with the broader social and extra curricular activities that were undertaken. An outstanding judgement recognised outstanding people. In relation to young carers, this was not an action from Ofsted but this had been identified via service development plans. A report would be taken to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Meeting in the evening of 7 November 2024.

The Leader of the Conservative Group whole heartedly congratulated the officers and staff who worked hard to get the outstanding judgment from an external body. In relation to progress on the action points, he asked if Scrutiny could follow this up. He observed that that support for young carers had not been picked up in the action plan but that the All Age Carers Strategy went some way towards this.

The Leader echoed the hard work that had taken place and thanked everyone for their remarkable contributions. Further investments into children's services would continue to come forward and this would be set out in the budget in March.

RESOLVED – that:

- a) the contents of the report be noted;
- b) the final action plan be noted; and
- c) the request by Children & young People Scrutiny Committee to monitor and implement the action plan be noted and supported.

CAB-25 Report of the Communities Scrutiny Committee – Review of Election Processes

Councillor E Davies – Chair, Communities Scrutiny Committee presented the report of the Director: Policy & Governance.

The Scrutiny Committee met on three separate occasions as part of the review which consisted of one formal committee and two workshops. Members heard from an expert witness, the Returning Officer and Senior Deputy Returning Officer in order to better understand the legal and practical considerations to ensure a fair and just election.

Following an in-depth review of the way in which elections were conducted across the borough and after considering the best practice in the field of elections, the Communities Scrutiny Committee developed recommendations for consideration.

Members examined recent legislative changes relating to conducting an election following the implementation of the Elections Act 2022 which included the implementation of photographic voter ID. They also received details of how this had impacted voter turnout and changes to postal vote handling.

The election review looked at communication around the introduction of voter ID, the timings of the count, staffing of the count, staff breaks and when results would be received.

The Returning Officer and Deputy Returning Officer worked with members at the workshops and evidenced that the Council already undertook "lessons learnt" sessions as the desired to continually improve. Legal requirements were extensive and the level and attention to detail was phenomenal. Staff received over 12 hours of training and mock elections took place. A staff training video was being considered to act as a reminder for staff prior to an election taking place. The workshop discussed the implications if things went wrong and the external specialist who attended reassured Members that it was not about speed but the efficiency of the count and he highlighted the best practice that took place at Telford and Wrekin. In relation to voter ID due to the social media communication there were minimal people that had been turned away.

It was concluded that best practice was to adopt a continuous improvement approach to the delivery of elections with Electoral Commission guidance highlighting the key benefits of holding a learning review following each election. The Returning Officer at Telford & Wrekin had, for some years, ensured that such learning reviews were undertaken. The recommendations from the report were testament to how well the Council was doing already but further fine tuning would be undertaken to candidates and agents training, staff breaks and the indicative plan. Voter ID had had a positive impact and was not a barrier to voting.

Cabinet Members welcomed the robust and in-depth report. It was important to adopt the continuous improvement approach as there were always areas of improvement and it gave Members assurance.

The Leader of the Conservative Group welcomed the report and the work of Councillor Davies. Elections were a technical and legal process and the work of the officers and staff involved should be commended. It was evident that officer reviews took place and as representatives, Members should play their part in a positive and constructive manner and respect the process. Within the recommendations it referred to ensuring attendance at briefings, opposition Group Leaders could only request that Members attend but could not ensure they would be there.

The recommendations were proposed and seconded.

RESOLVED – that the recommendations be approved.

The meeting ended at 10.29 am

Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices

Anthea Lowe

Director: Policy & Governance

Date: Wednesday 13 NOVEMBER 2024

Signed	
--------	--

Date: Thursday 5 December 2024